## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

DAISY TRUST, A NEVADA TRUST, Supreme Court Case No. 83798

Appellant,

v.

SUNRISE RIDGE MASTER HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION; AND NEVADA ASSOCIATION SERVICES, INC., A NEVADA NON-PROFIT CORPORATION,

#### Electronically Filed Mar 28 2022 02:44 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

# **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

Respondents.

Counsel for Appellant:

Roger P. Croteau, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 4958 Christopher L. Benner Nevada Bar No. 8963 ROGER P. CROTEAU & ASSOCIATES, LTD. 2810 W. Charleston Blvd., Ste. 75 Las Vegas, Nevada 89102 Tel: (702) 254-7775 Fax: (702) 228-7719 Email: croteaulaw@croteaulaw.com

#### NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

#### **II. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

(A) Basis for the Supreme Court's Appellate Jurisdiction: The Order Granting Respondent Sunrise Ridge Master Homeowners' Association (the "HOA") and Nevada Association Services, Inc., (the "HOA Trustee," collectively the "Respondents") Motion to Dismiss or Alternatively, Motion for Summary Judgment (the "MTD") is appealable under NRAP 3A(b)(1).

(B) The filing dates establishing the timeliness of the appeal: The Order granting the Respondents Motion to Dismiss ("Order") was filed on October 12, 2021. JA148. The Notice of Entry of Order was filed on October 12, 2021. JA157. The Notice of Appeal was filed on November 10, 2021. JA170.

(C) The appeal is from a final judgment.

#### **III. NRAP 17 ROUTING STATEMENT**

The instant matter should be retained by the Supreme Court of Nevada, because this appeal raises as a principal issue involving the common law and statutory interpretation of NRS Chapter 116. NRAP 17(a)(11). The issue presented in this appeal represents an important issue in the State of Nevada regarding the scope of the duty owed by the HOA and the HOA Trustee of good faith, honesty in fact, observance of reasonable standards of fair dealing, and candor in the conduct and performance of a homeowners' association assessment lien foreclosure sale. Specifically, pursuant to common law and/or NRS Chapter 116, and specifically NRS 116.1113, what are the duties and obligations of a homeowners' association, and its agent, the association's foreclosure trustee, in disclosing a "tender" as defined in *Bank of America N.A. v. SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC*, 427 P.3d 113 (Nev. 2018) to the bidding public at or before a homeowners' association's lien foreclosure sale under a factual scenario that acknowledges Appellant's inquiry.:

This matter also seeks to answer the question of whether the homeowners' association, and/or the homeowners' association's foreclosing trustee, as its agent, have an obligation pursuant to NRS 116.1113, NRS 116.1108, and common law to disclose a "tender" or attempted payment to the bidding public, including the Appellant, upon <u>reasonable inquiry</u> by the bidding parties and/or Appellant if such a tender of the superpriority lien amount had been attempted or in fact paid by any individual or entity prior to the homeowners' associations assessment lien foreclosure sale?

#### **IV. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED**

Whether the district court erred by granting the HOA and HOA Trustee's MTD in light of the following:

1. Does a homeowners' association and/or its agent, the homeowners' association's foreclosing trustee, have a duty and obligation to disclose a lender's tender of the superpriority amount of a homeowners' association's lien prior to the homeowners' association's assessment lien foreclosure sale after <u>reasonable inquiry</u> from a bidder and/or Appellant before or at the foreclosure sale?

2. Based on the pre-2015 version of NRS Chapter 116, and after reasonable inquiry by the bidders and/or the Appellant at or before the homeowners' association's assessment lien foreclosure sale, are the homeowners' association and/or the foreclosing trustee relieved of liability if the homeowners' association and/or its foreclosing trustee intentionally withhold materially adverse information of an attempted request or actual tender, or are the homeowners' association and the homeowners' association's foreclosing agent obligated in good faith pursuant to the mandates of NRS 116.1113, NRS 116.1108, and common law to be truthful and candidly respond to reasonable inquiries of whether a tender had occurred prior to the homeowners' association's lien foreclosure sale?

3. Did the district court commit errors of law and abuse its discretion by granting the MTD on a NRCP 12(b)(5) motion when the Complaint and the record provides facts, which if true, would entitle Appellant to relief?

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 1, 2019, Appellant filed its Complaint. JA001. Appellant filed a First Amended Complaint on June 14, 2021. JA041. Appellant's First Amended Complaint asserted five (5) claims for relief against the HOA and HOA Trustee: (i) intentional, or alternatively negligent, misrepresentation; (ii) breach of the duty of good faith; (iii) conspiracy; (iv) Violation of NRS Chapter 113 (which was later withdrawn by Appellant); and (v) unjust enrichment. *See id*. These claims are related to Appellant's purchase of real property commonly known as 63883 Winter Whitetail Street, Las Vegas, Nevada 89122 (APN 161-15-811-066) (the "Property") at a homeowners' association foreclosure conducted by the HOA Trustee on behalf of the HOA. JA041.

On June 28, 2021, the HOA filed its MTD. JA062. The HOA Trustee filed a joinder on June 39, 2021. JA108. On July 12, 2021, Appellant filed its Opposition to the MTD. JA111. On August 25, 2021, the HOA filed its reply in support of the MTD. JA133. On September 1, 2021, the district court heard oral argument on the MTD and granted the same. JA142.

#### VI. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

1. Appellant is the record title holder of the Property, which Appellant acquired by Trustee's Deed Upon Sale recorded in the Clark County Recorder's

office on August 30, 2012, pursuant to a homeowners' association lien foreclosure sale conducted on August 24, 2012 (the "HOA Foreclosure Sale"), by the HOA Trustee on behalf of the HOA. JA042 at ¶ 3-4.

2. The HOA is a Nevada common interest community association or unit owners' association as defined in NRS 116.011. *Id.* at  $\P$  5.

3. The HOA Trustee is a debt collection agency retained by the HOA as its agent to act as foreclosing trustee. *Id.* at  $\P$  6.

4. Under Nevada law, homeowners' associations have the right to charge property owners residing within the community assessments to cover the homeowners' association's expenses for maintaining or improving the community, among other things. *Id.* at  $\P$  9.

5. When the assessments are not paid, the homeowners' association may impose a lien against real property which it governs and thereafter foreclose on such lien. *Id.* at  $\P$  10.

6. NRS 116.3116 makes a homeowners' association's lien for assessments junior to a first deed of trust beneficiary's secured interest in the Property, with one limited exception; a homeowners' association's lien is senior to a deed of trust beneficiary's secured interest "to the extent of any charges incurred by the association on a unit pursuant to NRS 116.310312 and to the extent of the assessments for common expenses based on the periodic budget adopted by the association pursuant to NRS 116.3115 which would have become due in the absence of acceleration during the 9 months immediately preceding institution of an action to enforce the lien." NRS 116.3116(2)(c). JA043 at ¶ 11.

7. In Nevada, when a homeowners' association properly forecloses upon a lien containing a superpriority lien component, such foreclosure extinguishes a first deed of trust. *Id.* at  $\P$  12.

8. On or about January 25, 2005, Michael F. Delapaz and Carolyn T. Delapaz, husband and wife as joint tenants (the "Former Owners") purchased the Property. *Id.* at ¶ 13.

9. The Former Owner of the Property failed to pay to HOA all amounts due pursuant to HOA's governing documents. Id. at ¶ 15.

10. Accordingly, on May 20, 2010, HOA Trustee, on behalf of HOA, recorded a Notice of Delinquent Assessment Lien ("NODAL"). The NODAL stated that the amount due to the HOA was \$1,117.00 plus continuing assessments, interest, late charges, costs, and attorney's fees (the "HOA Lien"). JA044 at ¶ 16.

11. On July 13, 2012, HOA Trustee, on behalf of the HOA, recorded a Notice of Default and Election to Sell ("NOD") against the Property. The NOD

3

stated the amount due to the HOA was \$2,214.00, plus continuing assessments, late fees, interest and attorney's fees and costs. JA044 at ¶ 17.

12. Upon information and belief, after the NOD was recorded, Lenders counsel Miles, Bauer, Bergstrom & Winters, LLP ("Miles Bauer") contacted the HOA Trustee and requested adequate proof of the superpriority amount of assessments by providing a breakdown of up to nine (9) months of common assessments in order to calculate the superpriority lien amount in an ostensible attempt to determine, and pay, the amount of the HOA's alleged lien that was entitled to superpriority over the Deed of Trust ("Super-Priority Lien Amount"). *Id.* at ¶19.

13. By way of an Affidavit by Adam Kendis of Miles Bauer, Miles Bauer used a Statement of Account from Nevada Association Services, Inc., for a different property in the same HOA to determine a good faith payoff. JA044-45 at ¶20-22.

14. On April 19, 2012, Lender through Miles Bauer, provided a payment of \$ 378.00 to the HOA Trustee, which included payment of up to nine months of delinquent assessments (the "Attempted Payment"). JA045 at ¶24.

15. The HOA Trustee, on behalf of the HOA, rejected BANA's Attempted Payment. *Id.* at ¶24.

16. On August 24, 2014, HOA Trustee then proceeded to conduct a nonjudicial foreclosure sale on the Property and recorded the HOA Foreclosure Deed, which stated that the HOA Trustee sold the HOA's interest in the Property to Appellant for the highest bid amount of \$5,470.00 (the "HOA Foreclosure Deed"). *Id.* at ¶25.

17. In none of the recorded documents, nor in any other notice recorded with the Clark County Recorder's Office, did the HOA and/or the HOA Trustee specify or disclose that any individual or entity, including but not limited to BANA, had attempted to pay any portion of the HOA Lien in advance of the HOA Foreclosure Sale. *Id.* at ¶ 28.

18. Neither HOA nor HOA Trustee informed or advised the bidders and potential bidders at the HOA Foreclosure Sale, either orally or in writing, that any individual or entity had attempted to pay the Super-Priority Lien Amount. *Id.* at ¶ 29.

19. Upon information and belief, the debt owed to Lender by the Former Owner of the Property, pursuant to the loan secured by the Deed of Trust, significantly exceeded the fair market value of the Property at the time of the HOA Foreclosure Sale. JA046 at ¶ 30.

20. Upon information and belief, Lender alleges that its Attempted Payment of the Super-Priority Lien Amount served to satisfy and discharge the Super-Priority Lien Amount, thereby changing the priority of the HOA Lien vis a vis the Deed of Trust. *Id.* at  $\P$  31.

21. Upon information and belief, Lender alleges that as a result of its Attempted Payment of the Super-Priority Lien Amount, Appellant acquired title to the Property subject to the Deed of Trust. *Id.* at  $\P$  32.

22. Upon information and belief, if the bidders and potential bidders at the HOA Foreclosure Sale were aware that an individual or entity had attempted to pay the Super-Priority Lien Amount and/or by means of the Attempted Payment prior to the HOA Foreclosure Sale and that the Property was therefore ostensibly being sold subject to the Deed of Trust, the bidders and potential bidders would not have bid on the Property. *Id.* at ¶ 33.

23. Had the Property not been sold at the HOA Foreclosure Sale, HOA and HOA Trustee would not have received payment, interest, fees, collection costs and assessments related to the Property and these sums would have remained unpaid. *Id.* at ¶ 34.

24. HOA Trustee acted as an agent of HOA. *Id.* at  $\P$  35.

25. The HOA is responsible for the actions and inactions of HOA Trustee pursuant to the doctrine of respondeat superior and agency. *Id.* at  $\P$  36.

26. HOA and HOA Trustee conspired together to hide material information related to the Property, the HOA Lien, the Attempted Payment of the Super-Priority Lien Amount, the rejection of such payment or Attempted Payment, and the priority of the HOA Lien vis a vis the Deed of Trust, from the bidders and potential bidders at the HOA Foreclosure Sale. JA046-47 at ¶ 37.

27. The information related to any Attempted Payment or payments made by Lender, the homeowner or others to the Super-Priority Lien Amount was not recorded and would only be known by the Lender, the HOA, and HOA Trustee. JA048 at ¶ 38.

28. Upon information and belief, HOA and HOA Trustee conspired to withhold and hide the aforementioned information for their own economic gain and to the detriment of the bidders and potential bidders at the HOA Foreclosure Sale. *Id.* at  $\P$  39.

29. Lender first disclosed the Attempted Payment by way of the Lender's Complaint filed against Plaintiff and the HOA on March 3, 2016 ("Discovery") in the United States District Court for the District of Nevada, Civil Action No. 2:16-cv-00467MMD-CWH (the "Case"). *Id.* at ¶ 45.

30. In the Declaration of Iyad Haddad attached to the Amended Complaint,Mr. Haddad testified that it was his practice and procedure when he would attend

NRS Chapter 116 sales at all times relevant to this case, to ask or attempt to ascertain from the homeowner association's foreclosure trustee, whether anyone had attempted to or did tender any payment regarding the homeowner association's delinquent assessment lien. JA060-61. If Mr. Haddad learned that a "tender" had either been attempted or made, he would not purchase the property offered in that delinquent assessment lien foreclosure sale. *See id*.

#### VII. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews de novo an order granting a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, applying a rigorous standard, accepting the plaintiff's factual allegations as true and drawing every intendment in favor of the non-moving party. *Pack v. LaTourette*, 128 Nev. 264, 268 (2012). In asserting a claim in the complaint, the plaintiff only needs to state "a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief." NRCP 8(a). A pleading is sufficient so long as the pleading gives fair notice of the nature and basis of the claim. *Crucil v. Carson City*, 95 Nev. 583, 585 (1979). Based upon *Shoen v. SAC Holding Corp.*, 122 Nev. 621, 635 (2006), the Court must accept the nonmoving party's factual allegations and true and draw every fair factual inference from there.

Liberal pleading standards apply equally to declaratory relief and other civil claims. *See Breliant v. Preferred Equities Corp.*, 109 Nev. 842, 846 (1993). "[A]

complaint should be dismissed only if it appears beyond a doubt that [the plaintiff] could prove no set of facts, which, if true, would entitle him to relief." *Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 124 Nev. 224, 227-228 (2008).

Likewise, when the issue is purely a question of law, such as in cases where statutory construction is at issue, the review is also de novo. *Boulder Oaks Cmty. Ass 'n v. B & J Andrews Enters., LLC*, 125 Nev. 397, 403 (2009). "[A] complaint should not be dismissed for insufficiency, for failure to state a cause of action, unless it appears to a certainty that plaintiff is entitled to no relief under any set of facts which could be proved in support of the claim." Zalk-Josephs Co. v. Wells Cargo, Inc., 81 Nev. 163, 169 (1965) (citation omitted). On a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim for relief, the trial court, and the Supreme Court must draw every fair intendment in favor of the plaintiff. *Merluzi v. Larson*, 96 Nev. 409, 411 (1980), over ruled on the other grounds, *Smith v. Clough*, 106 Nev. 568 (1990).

#### VIII. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court erred when it granted the MTD for the following reasons:

1. Appellant properly stated a claim for relief for misrepresentation.

2. NRS Chapter 116 required the HOA and HOA Trustee to disclose the Attempted Payment and they breached those duties.

3. Appellant stated a viable claim for conspiracy.

## IX. LEGAL ARGUMENT

# A. <u>THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW,</u> <u>BECAUSE APPELLANT PROPERLY STATED A CLAIM FOR</u> <u>RELIEF FOR MISREPRESENTATION</u>

The HOA asserts, and the trial court found, that Appellant's claim for intentional or negligent misrepresentation must be dismissed as a matter of law citing NRCP 12(b)(5). *See* JA151. However, this argument is incorrect. In *Nelson v. Heer*, the Court defined intentional misrepresentation as being established by demonstrating:

(1) a false representation that is made with either knowledge or belief that it is false or without a sufficient foundation, (2) an intent to induce another's reliance, and (3) damages that result from this reliance.

With respect to the false representation element, the suppression or omission of a material fact which a party is bound in good faith to disclose is equivalent to a false representation, since it constitutes an indirect representation that such fact does not exist." And, with respect to the damage element, this court has concluded that the damages alleged must be proximately caused by reliance on the original misrepresentation or omission. Proximate cause limits liability to foreseeable consequences that are reasonably connected to both the defendant's misrepresentation or omission and the harm that the misrepresentation or omission created.

123 Nev. 217, 225 (2007). The *Nelson* Court provided that the omission of a material fact, such as the Lender's tender/Attempted Payment of the Super-Priority Lien Amount, is deemed to be a false representation which the HOA and HOA

Trustee are bound by the mandates of NRS 116.1113 to disclose to potential bidders, and this duty is a good faith obligation to disclose upon reasonable inquiry from potential bidders at the HOA Foreclosure Sale, and such intentional omission is equivalent to a false representation under the facts of this case.

Here, Appellant alleged facts that satisfy the elements identified in *Nelson*. *See* JA060-61. Because the district court was bound under Nevada law to accept Appellant's factual assertions as true, *see Shoen, supra*, the district court erred in dismissing this claim for relief.

With regard to Appellant's claim of negligent misrepresentation, the HOA argued that it should be dismissed for the same reason as the intentional misrepresentation – lack of duty. JA068-70. However, that argument is also incorrect, because Appellant adequately pled facts sufficient to support a claim for negligent misrepresentation. In, *Barmettler v. Reno Air, Inc.*, this Court defined the tort of negligent misrepresentation as follows:

One who, in the course of his business, profession or employment, or in any other action in which he has a pecuniary interest, supplies false information for the guidance of others in their business transactions, is subject to liability for pecuniary loss caused to them by their justifiable reliance upon the information, if he fails to exercise reasonable care or competence in obtaining or communicating the information.

114 Nev. 441, 449 (1998). Here, Appellant pled facts, that must be taken as true, sufficient to survive a motion to dismiss under NRCP 12(b)(5). Specifically,

Appellant alleged that the HOA and HOA Trustee had a pecuniary interest in the outcome of the HOA Foreclosure Sale and that they supplied false information (or at least omitted information) when asked whether a tender/Attempted Payment had been made, upon which Appellant justifiably relied. JA046-48 at ¶¶ 33-45 JA060-61. Therefore, the district court erred in dismissing this claim for relief.

#### THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S **B**. COMPLAINT, BECAUSE RESPONDENTS HAD DUTIES UNDER NRS **CHAPTER** 116 TO DISCLOSE THE ATTEMPTED **PAYMENT/TENDER** TO **APPELLANT** AT THE HOA **FORECLOSURE SALE**

In the MTD, the HOA argued that under NRS Chapter 116 there was no "affirmative duty to disclose the existence of payments and/or attempted payments on the HOA's lien." JA068. Further, the HOA argued that it had no duty to inform Appellant of the Attempted Payment, because Appellant was given a deed without warranty following the HOA Foreclosure Sale. *See id.* However, these arguments are incorrect under NRS Chapter 116.

## 1. <u>RESPONDENTS HAD A DUTY UNDER NRS CHAPTER 116 TO</u> <u>DISCLOSE THE ATTEMPTED PAYMENT/TENDER TO</u> <u>APPELLANT</u>

The Complaint adequately states claims for relief consistent with the HOA's and HOA Trustee's obligation of good faith, honesty in fact, reasonable standards of fair dealing, and candor pursuant to NRS 116.1113. The HOA and HOA Trustee, argue that Appellant fails to cite to any provision within NRS Chapter 116 that contains an obligation or duty of good faith to the Purchaser/Appellant, thus alleging that NRS 116.1113 is not implicated. JA068-70. However, the HOA's argument fails.

NRS 116.1113 is not only implicated but clearly governs the HOA's and HOA Trustee's duties and contracts when dealing with the performance of their duties in foreclosing a lien for delinquent assessments and with a Purchaser at such sale. NRS 116.1113 provides, "[e]very contract or duty governed by this chapter imposes an obligation of good faith in its performance or enforcement." In the actions of the HOA and the HOA Trustee leading up to and at the HOA Foreclosure Sale, the statute imposes a duty of good faith as further clarified by the Comments to Section 1-113 of the UCIOA regarding the HOA's performance in its enforcement of the provisions included in NRS Chapter 116 that constitute the foreclosure sale and selling the Property to a Purchaser that will eventually be a member of the HOA.

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