IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DAISY TRUST, A NEVADA TRUST,

Appellant,

VS.

SUNRISE RIDGE MASTER HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, A NEVADA NON-PROFIT CORPORATION; AND NEVADA ASSOCIATION SERVICES, INC., A NEVADA CORPORATION,

Respondents.

Supreme Court Case No.: 83798

District Court Case No Electronically Filed Apr 27 2022 11:32 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

RESPONDENT SUNRISE RIDGE MASTER HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION'S ANSWERING BRIEF

LIPSON NEILSON P.C.
J. WILLIAM EBERT, ESQ., (Nevada Bar No. 2697)
JONATHAN K. WONG, ESQ., (Nevada Bar No. 13621)
9900 Covington Cross Drive, Suite 120
Las Vegas, Nevada 89144
(702) 382-1500 (Telephone)
(702) 382-1512 (Facsimile)

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Issue: Whether the district court properly determined that, under the pre-2015 version of NRS 116, a homeowners association has no duty to disclose attempted tenders of the "super priority" portion of the association's lien?

Issue: Whether the district court properly determined that, under the pre-2015 version of NRS 116, a homeowner's association does not violate the duty of good faith set forth under NRS 116.1113 by not affirmatively disclosing the existence of attempted payments on the "super priority" portion of the association's lien?

Issue: Whether the district court properly granted dismissal of Appellant's First Amended Complaint under NRCP 12(b)(5) where the allegations therein, even if taken as true, did not set forth facts that would entitle Appellant to relief?

Issue: Whether the district court properly granted dismissal of Appellant's First Amended Complaint under NRCP 12(b)(5) where the same contained no allegations that 1) Appellant actually inquired of the HOA or its agent about payment on the HOA's lien, and 2) that Appellant was specifically advised in response that no person or entity had made or attempted such payment?

///

///

///

I. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court properly granted Sunrise Ridge's MTD and NAS's joinder for the following reasons:

- 1. Appellant failed to state a claim for misrepresentation because the HOA and/or NAS had no obligation under NRS 116 to affirmatively disclose BANA's attempted payment/tender on the HOA's lien, and the Complaint contains no allegations that Appellant specifically made inquiry regarding the same, thereby foreclosing any arguments that the HOA and/or NAS were required to provide the information upon inquiry. Even if *arguendo* Appellant were to have made inquiry, there is no evidence or allegation that the HOA and/or NAS replied in a manner that affirmatively misled Appellant (rather than simply declining to provide the requested information).
- 2. None of the allegations in Appellant's Complaint, when taken as true, demonstrate that the HOA and/or NAS acted in bad faith in violation of NRS 116.113, and NRS 116.1113 cannot serve as a basis to read in extra-statutory duties to the NRS 116 scheme.
- 3. Appellant's remaining claims for conspiracy, violation of NRS 113, and unjust enrichment fail because Appellant failed to state a claim for misrepresentation.

II. <u>LEGAL ARGUMENT</u>

A. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED APPELLANT'S CLAIM FOR MISREPRESENTATION BECAUSE NOTHING IN THE PLAIN TEXT OF NRS 116 IMPOSED UPON THE HOA AND/OR NAS A DUTY TO DISCLOSE BANA'S ATTEMPTED PAYMENT/TENDER

To establish a claim for misrepresentation, the plaintiff carries the burden of proving each of the following elements: (1) a false representation was made by the defendant; (2) defendant's knowledge or belief that its representation was false or that defendant has an insufficient basis of information for making the representation; (3) defendant intended to induce plaintiff to act or refrain from acting upon the misrepresentation; and (4) damage to the plaintiff as a result of relying on the misrepresentation. *Barmettler v. Reno Air, Inc.*, 956 P.2d 1382, 1386, 114 Nev. 441, 447 (Nev., 1998).

The district court dismissed Appellant's misrepresentation claim on the grounds that the non-disclosure of BANA's attempted payment did not constitute a false representation because "[u]nder the version of NRS 116 in effect at the time of the Foreclosure Sale, neither Sunrise Ridge nor NAS had an affirmative duty to disclose to potential bidders the existence of payments or attempted payments on the HOA's lien." JA151. This interpretation of the law is completely true and accurate; there is no requirement in the plain text of the pre-2015 version of NRS 116 that imposed on HOAs a duty to disclose attempted payments on the super-priority portion of its lien. It is well-settled law that, when a statute is unambiguous, courts

P.3d 1139, 1141 (2015) ("In the absence of an ambiguity, we do not resort to other sources, such as legislative history, in ascertaining that statute's meaning."). Appellant did not allege in its Complaint that NRS 116 is ambiguous. Moreover, this very Court has recognized that the pre-2015 version of NRS 116 contained no requirement to disclose if tender of the super-priority portion of the lien has been made. See *Noonan v. Bayview Loan Servicing, LLC*, 438 P.3d 335, 2019 WL 1552690 at *3 (Nev. 2019) (unpublished disposition).

Appellant's Complaint does not contain any allegations that, if taken as true, would entitle it to relief under a claim for misrepresentation. Appellant's allegations that the HOA and NAS withheld information about BANA's attempted payment, even if taken as true, would not entitle Appellant to relief, as neither the HOA nor NAS had an obligation to disclose such information. *Noonan*, 2019 WL 1552690 at *3. The district court did note that, although there was no affirmative duty to disclose BANA's attempted payment, HOA and/or NAS could have made a misrepresentation if Appellant were "to have specifically inquired about whether payment was made on the HOA's lien, and in response be advised specifically that no such payments had been made." JA 152.

The Complaint contains no such allegations. Appellant's opening brief implies that Appellant might have made inquiry regarding whether a

tender/attempted payment had been made and was expressly informed that there was none. See Opening Brief, p. 12 (stating that the HOA "supplied false information...when asked...") (emphasis added). However, the First Amended Complaint contains no such allegations. Rather, all of Appellant's allegations presuppose a duty on the HOA/NAS to affirmatively disclose attempted payments/tenders. Even the declaration of Eddie Haddad attached to Appellant's First Amended Complaint fails to allege that he actually made inquiry as to this specific foreclosure sale, instead repeating the same tired statements about his "practice and procedure" in general. Such allegations fall grossly short of establishing any misrepresentation on the part of the HOA and/or NAS.

Because the plain text of NRS 116 as it existed at the time of the sale did not impose a duty to disclose attempted payments/tenders of the super-priority portion of the HOA lien, and there are no allegations as to inquiry being made here, Appellant cannot establish a false representation on the part of the HOA and/or NAS, and therefore the district court properly dismissed Appellant's claim for misrepresentation. Indeed, the district court's dismissal of this claim is in line with numerous unpublished decisions by the Nevada Supreme Court on the exact same issue. See *Saticoy Bay, Ltd. Liab. Co. v. Mountain Gate Homeowners' Ass'n*, 473 P.3d 1046, fn 2 (Nev. 2020) (Unpublished) ("Although appellant frames the issue as whether respondent had a duty to disclose 'after reasonable inquiry,' **appellant's**

complaint contains no allegations that such an inquiry was made in this case." Relatedly, although appellant contends that it relied upon the recitals in the foreclosure deed, the recitals made no representation one way or the other whether a superpriority tender had been made.) (emphasis added); see also *Saticoy Bay, LLC Series 6132 Peggotty v. Copperfield Homeowners Association et. al*, No. 82349, 2021 WL 5276629, at *1 (Nev. Nov. 10, 2021) (Unpublished); *Saticoy Bay LLC Series 10007 Liberty View v. S. Terrace Homeowners Ass'n*, 484 P.3d 276 (Nev. 2021) (Unpublished).

B. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED APPELLANT'S CLAIM FOR BREACH OF THE DUTY OF GOOD FAITH UNDER NRS 116.1113 BECAUSE THE HOA COMPLIED WITH ALL OF ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE STATUTE IN GOOD FAITH

NRS 116.1113 provides that "[e]very contract or duty governed by this chapter imposes an obligation of good faith in its performance or enforcement." See NRS 116.1113 (emphasis added). The duties to which this good faith mandate applies are specifically set forth in NRS 116.3116 – 116.31168. Nothing in Appellant's Complaint alleges that the HOA or the HOA Trustee acted in bad faith in their performance of these duties. Rather, Appellant seeks to impermissibly apply this good faith requirement to a duty that is not spelled out in NRS 116.1113. Such an argument falls flat on its face. Because the misrepresentation claim fails as set forth above, so too must Appellant's claim for breach of the duty of good faith.

Although Appellant discusses NRS 116.1113 in the context of a contract, none of the allegations in its Complaint identified a contract in this case. Appellant argues ad nauseam in its Opening Brief why the Court should look to case law from Minnesota and Delaware in imposing a duty of candor, but even accepting this argument, it only goes to how the Court should apply NRS 116.1113 to the duties expressly enumerated in NRS 116; it does not provide a basis for creating an entirely new duty on the HOA and the HOA Trustee to disclose attempted payments of the super-priority portion of the lien to potential bidders. Again, this Court has previously recognized that the pre-2015 version of NRS 116 imposed no such requirement. See Mann St. v. Elsinore Homeowners Ass'n, 466 P.3d 540 (Nev. 2020) (unpublished) (stating that "[d]ismissal of appellant's NRS 116.1113 claim was also appropriate because respondent did not have a duty to proactively disclose whether a superpriority tender had been made."); see also Noonan, 438 P.3d 335. Because there are no allegations that the HOA and/or the HOA Trustee performed their duties set forth in NRS 116.3116 – 116.31168 in bad faith, there is no basis for Appellant's claim for breach of NRS 116.1113, and the district court properly dismissed the same.

Additionally, although Appellant argues that the HOA and/or HOA Trustee at a minimum had a duty to disclose attempted payments/tender "upon inquiry," there is no allegation in the Complaint that Appellant ever made such inquiry. The

declaration of Eddie Haddad attached to the First Amended Complaint alleges merely that he had a general practice and procedure of making such inquiry prior to attending NRS 116 sales, but even that declaration fails to assert that Mr. Haddad specifically made inquiry here, much less that he was specifically advised that there were no attempted payments on the HOA lien. *See* JA061. Nothing in any of the allegations in this case implicate the duty of candor espoused by Appellant.

Appellant's attempt to read in a duty to disclose through NRS 116.1108, while creative, was not argued before the district court, and is thus not properly before this Court. See Lam v. Nhu Tran Found., 2021 Nev. App. Unpub. LEXIS 543, *7, 495 P.3d 529, 2021 WL 4317390 (stating that "[i]n this case, none of Lam's arguments were presented to the district court. Therefore, we need not consider them."). Out of an abundance of caution, the HOA offers that even if arguendo this argument was properly asserted in the district court proceedings, this provision of the statute does not provide a basis for relief against the HOA. NRS 116.1108 provides that supplemental general principles of law are applicable to NRS 116. Appellant latches onto the language in NRS 116.1108 that specifically references principles of misrepresentation as supporting an inference of a duty on the HOA to disclose attempted tenders. Appellant is overeager in its application of this provision, as all this does at most is indicate that common law claims are not precluded by NRS 116. Indeed, NRS 116.1108 does not incorporate common law principles "to the extent inconsistent with [NRS 116]." See NRS 116.1108. Appellant's attempt to read into NRS 116 a requirement on the HOA and its agent to disclose attempted payments/tenders would violate this provision, as such would be inconsistent with NRS 116 as it existed at the time of the sale. This is confirmed by the fact that the Nevada legislature specifically revised NRS 116 in 2015 to require such a disclosure. As such, Appellant's arguments under NRS 116.1108 fail both procedurally and substantively.

Finally, Appellant dedicates substantial time to arguing that this Court should look to the UCIOA and the drafters' comments thereto in interpreting NRS 116.1113. However, it is well-settled law that, when a statute is unambiguous, courts interpret them based on their plain meaning. *Logan v. Abe*, 131 Nev. 260, 264, 350 P.3d 1139, 1141 (2015) ("In the absence of an ambiguity, we do not resort to other sources, such as legislative history, in ascertaining that statute's meaning."). Appellant did not allege in its Complaint or Opposition that NRS 116 is ambiguous. As such, it must be interpreted based on its plain meaning, and looking to other sources such as the UCIOA would be improper.

Thus, the district court properly dismissed Appellant's claim for Breach of NRS 116.1113, as the HOA's and HOA Trustee's obligation of good faith did not impose upon them a duty to disclose attempted payments/tenders on the superpriority portion of the lien.

C. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED APPELLANT'S REMAINING CAUSES OF ACTION

The district court held that "Because there was no misrepresentation – neither intentional nor negligent – Plaintiff's remaining causes of action necessarily fail to state claims upon which relief can be granted." JA152. This holding was correct and proper because all of Appellant's remaining causes of action are predicated on the assumption that the HOA's conduct violated its duties under NRS 116.

An actionable civil conspiracy "consists of a combination of two or more persons who, by some concerted action, intend to accomplish an unlawful objective for the purpose of harming another, and damage results from the act or acts." *Consol. Generator-Nevada, Inc. v. Cummins Engine Co., Inc.*, 114 Nev. 1304, 1311, 971 P.2d 1251, 1256 (1998) (quoting *Hilton Hotels v. Butch Lewis Productions*, 109 Nev. 1043, 1048, 862 P.2d 1207, 1210 (1993)). Appellant alleges that NAS was acting as the HOA's agent, and that the two entities agreed to withhold disclosing the attempted pre-sale payment of the super-priority portion of the HOA's lien. However, as set forth above, the HOA and NAS were not obligated to disclose this information. See *Noonan* at 335. Accordingly, the alleged "wrongful objective" was not unlawful, and the district court properly dismissed Appellant's claim for conspiracy on this basis.

Additionally, there can be no conspiracy between the HOA and NAS under the preclusive weight of the intra-corporate conspiracy doctrine, which stands for the proposition that "agents and employees of a corporation cannot conspire with their corporate principal or employer where they act in their official capacities on behalf of the corporation and not as individuals for their individual advantage." See *Collins v. Union Federal Sav. & Loan Ass'n*, 662 P.2d 610, 622, 99 Nev. 284, 303 (Nev. 1983). Therefore, to sustain a claim for conspiracy against agents and their corporation, a plaintiff must prove that one or more of the agents acted outside the scope of their employment "to render them a separate person for the purposes of conspiracy." See *Faulkner v. Arkansas Children's Hosp.*, 69 S.W.3d 903, 407, 347 Ark. 941, 962 (Ark. 2002). Appellant has not alleged that NAS acted outside of its scope as the HOA's agent. This further justifies the district court's dismissal of Appellant's conspiracy claim.

As to the claim for Violation of NRS 113, this Court has previously held that "NRS 113.130 requires a seller to disclose 'defect[s]', **not superpriority tenders**." *Mountain Gate*, 473 P.3d 1046, 2020 WL 6130913 at *2 (emphasis added). This Court has specifically considered arguments that NRS 113.130 and the Seller's Real Property Disclosure Form ("SRPDF") mandate disclosure by the HOA of the bank's attempted payment, and has found the same to be unpersuasive. *Id* at *2, fn 5 (stating "[n]or are we persuaded that the Seller's Real Property Disclosure Form would require disclosure of a superpriority tender.").

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